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Introduction 

 
The foundations of Benzie & Miller Ltd lie in the late nineteenth century in north east 
Scotland. In 1887 William Benzie, a young businessman, took over the Colosseum 
Warehouse drapery business on 32 Mid Street, Fraserburgh, from Mitchell & Co. The 
business was extended in 1896 when a new store was built across the street. In 1898 
a power plant was installed providing electricity and ensuring that the store was well 
lit. This impressed the locals as it was the first of its kind in the area. 
  
The store increased in size and popularity over the years and in 1920 William Benzie 
started to think about establishing a department store. James Miller, a personal 
friend of William Benzie, trained as a cabinetmaker and, under William Benzie's 
recommendation, he established a cabinetmaker and furnishing business in 
Fraserburgh. His business was largely successful but when called up to serve in 
France in World War I he decided to sell his stock and machinery and abandon the 
business.  
 
After the war he gradually began restoring it and it once again grew in popularity. 
After much discussion William Benzie and James Miller, along with William Benzie's 
manager John Halkett, decided to combine forces and set up a department store 
named Benzie & Miller Ltd in 1920. Robert Henderson, a shoemaker who owned a 
store nearby, also became one of the directors of the company as he had agreed for 
his store, the Fraserburgh branch of the Lerwick shoemakers Messrs Goodlad and 
Coutts, to be rebuilt and redesigned to assist the extension of William Benzie's 
existing property. 
 
The company was registered in April 1920 with capital of £40,000 in £1 shares. 
 
Around this time Benzie & Miller Ltd also bought over a new bootmaking firm called 
Abercromby Ltd. This business merged with Goodlad and Coutts, to form the 
footwear department in the Benzie & Miller store. Other departments, such as 
ironmongery, hardware, china, and glassware were soon established in the store as 
well as a small tearoom on the first floor.  
 
The new store was expanded by buying up adjacent properties and building a new 
store which had a 120-foot frontage, with a large workshop added for the 
cabinetmaking business. Over the years the menswear department and fashion salon 
were also introduced, and other departments were extended and improved. The store 
also underwent a number of alterations over the years.  
 
William Benzie died in 1931 and James Miller in 1934. Their sons, Alexander Benzie 
and John B. Miller, also became directors of the company. In 1934 the store was 
extended again with a three-storey building that increased its size by 11,500 square 
feet. Benzie & Miller Ltd stores were also established in Banff (formerly Rankin & 
Co), Elgin in 1950 (formerly the drapery business of A. L. Ramsay & Son, which was 
founded in 1845), Inverness (formerly Young & Chapman), and Peterhead, and these 
were often known simply as Benzies.  
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The Elgin and Inverness (Union Street) stores also housed Polyfoto Studios, where 
customers could obtain a series of small head and shoulder portraits of themselves or 
family members. This business was eventually killed off by the introduction of coin-
operated photobooths in the 1960s.  
See http://www.photodetective.co.uk/Polyfoto.html for more information. 
 
The Benzie & Miller stores were taken over by the House of Fraser in 1958, retaining 
the name. The Fraserburgh Benzie & Miller store closed down on Saturday 30th 
March 1968. The building was later occupied by Alex McDonald and Sons who 
opened a supermarket there in November 1969, but it closed down in 1971. It was 
later owned by William Reid who had a shop there until 1975.  
 
Benzie & Miller's store in Peterhead closed about 1977 or 1978 after a fire destroyed 
it. The Banff store closed around the mid-1980's and is now McKay's. The last part of 
the Benzie & Millers Fraserburgh store was demolished in 1985 and is now part of a 
sheltered housing complex. As part of the House of Fraser restructuring in the 1970s 
the remaining stores were absorbed into the Arnotts division and rebranded under 
this name. They have all since closed, with the last store of the Benzie & Miller 
empire shutting in Inverness in 2003. 
 
Some archive material about Benzie & Miller is held in the House of Fraser Archive, 
which is physically located at the Glasgow University Archive Services.  
[see: http://www.housefraserarchive.ac.uk] 
 
Alexander Benzie, the owner of Benzie & Miller, moved south to Exmouth following 
the buyout by Hugh Fraser and bought the drapers/department store Thomas Tucker 
in the town. He ran this business, with his son Ronald, from 1961 until his death in 
1991. 
 
The stores were located at 
 

• 15-33 Mid Street, Fraserburgh 
• 34-38 High Street, Banff 
• 121-123 High Street, Elgin 
• 2-8 Marischal Street, Peterhead 
• 3-17 Union Street, Inverness 
• 1 Drummond Street, Inverness 
• 33-49 Baron Taylor Street, Inverness 
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Golden Jubilee Brochure 
 

 
 
Printer's ink and paper - even with the introduction of numerous photographs - 
cannot reproduce to the full the many Departments and Services of the House of 
Benzie & Miller Ltd. In one important particular a Booklet fails entirely - it cannot 
convey the spirit of friendly courtesy that has characterised and helped to build the 
business from its inception. Yet, if it has proved of interest to the reader, and 
perhaps fostered a desire to utilise our many Services, the Booklet will have served 
its purpose, and the work involved will have proved worthwhile. 

 

How it began – 
 
In the year 1886, William Benzie, a young man of 21, 
came to Fraserburgh to take over the management of a 
drapery business then being carried on at 32 Mid Street. 
After holding this position for a year he decided to start 
on his own account and bought a business along the 
coast at Buckie. When he informed his employers of his 
decision they asked him to take over the Fraserburgh 
business, which he agreed to do. The shop in Buckie was 
disposed of shortly afterwards and he concentrated his 
energies on The Colosseum as it was grandiloquently 
styled. This was the foundation of the firm as it is 
known to-day. 

 
 
 
 
After a few years the business had increased to such an 
extent that larger premises became imperative. In 1896 
Mr. Benzie bought a fine old house on the other side of 
the street, and to the shocked surprise of the 
surrounding residents he had the building pulled down. 
On this site a more modern shop was built, part of 
which is incorporated in the present building. 
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Always a pioneer, Mr. Benzie early showed his love of modern methods by installing 
in the year 1898 a power plant for making electric light. This innovation was 
practically unheard of in the district and no doubt had a corresponding advertising 
value. On a winter's night the huge arc lamps outside the shop made Mid Street the 
only well lit part of the town. Many are the stories told of frequent breakdowns in the 
first primitive installation and the consequent wild rush of customers to the door in 
the darkness, fearful of a threatened explosion or similar disaster. So uncertain was 
the lighting in these early days that Mr. Benzie, who was his own electrician and 
engineer, would be at home for tea while a watch was anxiously kept at the window 
for the first signs of a "black-out.' Although at some distance from the shop, the glare 
of the lamps could be easily seen from the house and often a meal was hurriedly 
abandoned in a dash down town to put the plant in operation again. 
 
During the next twenty years, as the scope of the business increased, extension after 
extension had to be made. New showrooms and stockrooms were added one after the 
other to the rear of the building until, in 
1920, a momentous under-taking was begun 
and the first idea of a Departmental Store 
began to take shape. 
 
 

In Mr. Benzie's first 
years of business there 
came to him for 
employment a young 
boy, by name James 
R. Miller. This was the 
beginning of a lifelong 
friendship, but they 
little thought in those 
days that their names 
would later be linked 
together in a business 

which has become a household word in the 
North East of Scotland. 
 
James Miller became an apprentice to a 
cabinetmaker in the town and after serving 
his time he took a situation in the south. A year or two later, another furnishing 
business in Fraserburgh coming into the market, Mr. Benzie wrote to the young man, 
in whom he had always taken a friendly interest, advising him to come back and take 
it over. Some persuasion was required, but eventually Mr. Miller set up in business as 
a Cabinetmaker and Furnisher. After a number of years his former employer died. 
Mr. Miller bought over the business, occupying the shop and commodious 
workshops. There he conducted a successful business in all branches of the furniture 
trade until the War intervened.  
 
After spending two years in France on voluntary Y.M.C.A. work, Mr Miller went on 
active service and, in the uncertainty of the moment, he decided to dispose of his 
extensive plant. His modern machinery and stocks of seasoned woods were all sold 
and the business was carried on in a smaller fashion until the end of the War. From 
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then until 1920 his energies were spent in bringing it back to its former status, and, 
although handicapped by lack of suitable plant, he was entirely successful.  
 
At this time Mr. Benzie began to think of forming his business into a limited 
company and he discussed with Mr. Miller various alterations which he 
contemplated. These included rebuilding a neighbouring shop which was occupied 
by a branch of a Lerwick firm of bootmakers, Messrs. Goodlad and Coutts. The 
manager of this branch was Mr. Robert Henderson, a brother-in-law of Mr. Miller. 
Mr. Henderson had come to the town in the year 1901 at the age of 20, to open this 
shop for his firm, and in the 20 years of its existence had built up a very fine 
connection. He naturally was interested in the proposed alterations and took part in 
the discussions. One thing led to another until the idea of a combine was mooted. It 
was finally decided to amalgamate the businesses of Mr. Benzie and Mr. Miller and 
also to take over the shoemaking business, Mr. Henderson joining the firm. The 
trading style decided upon was Benzie & Miller Ltd., and the first Directors were Mr. 
Benzie as Chairman, Mr. Miller, Mr. Henderson and Mr. John Halkett, who was Mr. 
Benzie's manager. 
 
The first step was to acquire an extensive property adjacent to Mr. Benzie's shop and 
also a large property in the rear, giving access right through to the next street. In Mid 
Street a handsome building was erected and the frontage now had a total of over 120 
feet. Just then another bootmaking business came into the market. This was 
Abercromby Ltd., an old established firm with a good reputation. This firm was 
bought over and these two businesses became the nucleus of the Footwear 
Department, which has flourished under the capable management of Mr. Henderson. 
During the first years of the amalgamation Mr. Miller's cabinetmaking department 
was carried on at his former shop until the lease had expired, but eventually a 
modern workshop was built at the rear of the Mid Street property and the whole of 
the firm's activities were concentrated at the one address. 
 
The next few years saw the addition of departments for Household Ironmongery, 
Hardware, China and Glassware, and these were developed under Mr Miller's care. 
Other departments were gradually modernised by the installation of up-to-date 
fixtures and quickserving fittings. A Tea Room was opened on the first floor and, 
although not of great size, has proved a useful adjunct to the firm's business. 
Catering for snack lunches as well as teas, it has become a necessary service to a 
growing clientele. 
 
In the year 1923 Mr. Halkett retired from the firm and Mr. 
Benzie's son, Mr. Alexander Benzie, who at the time was 
gaining experience in the south, was appointed a Director 
in his place. The following year he returned to Fraserburgh 
to take charge of the Men's Wear department. A shop 
adjoining the Drapery Department was taken over and 
fitted up with the latest equipment, with a separate 
entrance from the street and also an entrance from the 
main shop. Two years later the Fashion Salon was also put 
under Mr. A. Benzie's control. 
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Apart from improvements in various sections, little change 
took place for a number of years. In the year 1927 Mr. 
Miller's son, Mr. John B. Miller, joined the firm and took a 
course of practical training in the furniture workshops. He 
then went south for further experience in the retail side and, 
in 1931, returned to assist his father in the Furnishing 
Departments. It was in 1931 that the firm suffered its first 
great loss, for in the month of April its founder, Mr. William 
Benzie, died after a very short illness. By his death was 
removed one of the leading figures of the Drapery Trade in 
the North of Scotland, whose sterling character was a byword 
among those with whom he had any business dealings. One 
of the happiest memories we have of his genial nature was 

his welcoming speech at the staff reunion that year, full of good humour and 
brimming over with friendship. 
 
On Mr. Benzie's death Mr. Miller was appointed Chairman and Mr. John B. Miller 
was elected a Director. Mr. A. Benzie was appointed manager of the General Drapery, 
Ladies' Outfitting and Children's Departments. Later in that year an important 
reconstruction took place. The Entrance Hall was entirely remodelled and a 
handsome new stairway was built at the rear. All the offices were removed to the first 
floor and the amenities of the main entrance were thereby improved immensely.  
 
The following year the Hardware and China Departments were put under the charge 
of Mr. John Miller, but before he had time to develop his position the firm was dealt 
another blow. In July, Mr. Miller, Sen. became seriously ill and for six months was 
confined to bed. In January, 1934, he died, less than two years after his lifelong 
friend and partner. In Mr. Miller the firm lost one of its ablest members whose 
integrity and devotion to building up its resources has been one of the chief causes of 
its high standing to-day. 
 
After the death of Mr. Miller, Mr. A. Benzie was appointed 
Chairman and Managing Director and several changes were 
made in the departmental managements. Mr. J. B. Miller 
returned to the Furnishing and Cabinetmaking Departments 
to take control and the China and Ironmongery Departments 
were put under the charge of Mr. Henderson. It was in this 
year that the greatest extension since the inception of the firm 
took place. Excavations were made in an open piece of ground 
lying between the main shop and the workshops, and a three-
storey building was erected. Each floor of the new extension 
was about 3,500 square feet and, when completed, added 
tremendously to the facilities for a "walk-round" store.  
 
The lower floor has enjoyed a great success as a Bargain Basement and also houses 
the Toy Bazaar at Christmas. Spacious additions were made to the China and 
Hardware Departments on the ground floor and space was added to the sections for 
Wall-papers, Carpets and Rugs, and Linoleums. On the upper floor the Furniture 
Department was transferred to the new building and two attractive Furnished Rooms 
were opened. The former Furniture Showroom was fitted out with modern 
showcases and became the new Fashion Salon. 
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Consequent upon this big extension many improvements had to be made throughout 
the establishment. A new cash system of the latest Lamson pneumatic type was 
installed, with a central cash desk serving all departments, adjoining the Counting 
House. Another important development was the provision of adequate lighting. Since 
the first engine was installed in 1898 many additions had been made. This engine 
was replaced in 1900 by a gas engine which was still doing duty in 1924. By that time 
it had outlived its usefulness and a more powerful oil engine took its place.  
 
A year or two later this had to be scrapped and a still larger one put in its place. With 
the addition of more lights even this proved inadequate and a second engine of a 
similar type was installed. These two ran for a few years until the big extension took 
place, when it was realised that a great increase in consumption would have to be 
faced. At this time the Grid Scheme was approaching the town but it was just too late 
and, in the Autumn of 1934, the present plant was assembled in a commodious new 
engine room. This consists of an 80 H.P. Diesel oil engine and one of the smaller 
engines of 24 H.P. from the old plant as a stand-by. These drive two generators of 
400 and 150 amperes respectively, which allows an ample margin for future 
improvements.  
 
Just as the new building was commencing, a neighbouring property came into the 
market and was bought with a view to the future. No extension in this direction was 
contemplated at the time, but as the plans for the new showrooms were examined it 
was seen that a large garden at the rear of this property could be used to advantage. 
Here was built a new workshop for the Cabinetmaking Department, where the whole 
of the work, both machining and handwork, could be carried out on one floor level. 
Some additions were made to the plant there bringing it up to most modern 
requirements. The former workshops were utilised for packing rooms, wood stores 
and stock rooms. 
 
One improvement leads to another and it was seen that the older departments would 
have to be brought into line with the new showrooms. In the following year, 
therefore, a big reconstruction took place on the ground floor, the Footwear 
Department being entirely replanned, giving it much more floorspace and improved 
fitting rooms. The department for Cutlery and Crystal was also refurnished with 
attractive showcases, and a new department for Hosiery and Gloves was opened in 
the Entrance Hall.  
 
The Underwear and Children's Departments were then remodelled and the former 
Fashion Salon thrown open to the rest of the shop. In 1936 this was fitted out as a 
Wool and Art Needlework Department and, at the same time, the Linens and Fabrics 
sections were redesigned. This year a new Soft Furnishing Department has been 
added, and a section for Cosmetics and Beauty preparations which has already 
proved a decided success. 
 
As a fitting celebration of the Jubilee the firm decided to further extend their window 
space this year by building a modern arcade. This occupies the ground floor of the 
property recently acquired at 15 Mid Street and extends 60 feet to the rear with an 
entrance to the Hardware Department. The arcade consists of deep furniture 
windows on the right, with fashions and soft goods windows on the left. Finished in 
bronze with a black base, terrazzo flooring, and attractive interior panelling, the 
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whole scheme is very striking. Altogether it is a worthy effort to mark this great 
occasion in the history of the firm. 
 
And so we come to the end of the chapter, but not of the story. With such a history 
behind it the firm will go on to greater heights. There are plans for the future which 
will take shape in due course, new services will be added and improvements will 
continue to be made to bring a shopping ideal to this corner of Scotland. 
 

 
  

 

Benzie & Miller Limited 
15-33 Mid Street, Fraserburgh 

FASHIONS - FOOTWEAR - FURNISHINGS - TEA 
ROOM 

Telephone - Fraserburgh No. 6 
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A display of modern furniture in one of the 

Arcade windows 
Entrance to the new Arcade 

  
A closer view of the new Arcade showing the 

splendid facilities for attractive display 
A glimpse of the spacious Main Entrance Hall  

 
 

The Handbag and Fancy Goods Section 

 
Where Gloves, Hosiery and Neckwear are on view 

 

 
 

A general view of the extensive Drapery 
Department  

Here, in the Baby Linen Section, the toddlers are 
fitted out 
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Mothers bring the children with confidence to this 

Department 
In the Underwear and Knitwear Section 

  
A corner of the Knitting Wools and Haberdashery 

Section 
The new Perfumery Department with the latest 

in cosmetics and perfumes 

  
The needs of the menfolk are catered for at this 

Department 
The fitting rooms of the Men's Wear Department 

  
A display of fashions in Footwear  The world of fashion is brought to "Milady" 
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A corner of the Millinery Salon Another glimpse of the Fashion Salon 

 

  
Customers will recall these Fashion Parades with 

interest - in October 1936 
in May 1935 

  
in October 1935 Part of the widely stocked Dress Materials 

Section 

  
The Linen Department An attractive corner of the Soft Furnishings 

Department 
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At the Wallpaper and Furnishing Ironmongery 

counters 
A suggestion of the extent of our Household 

Ironmongery Section 

  
In the Fancy Hardware Department A splendid selection of Carpets and Linoleums 

are available at all times 

  
A sunny corner of the Tea Room 

 
The Furniture Showroom 

  
The Cutlery and Electro-plate Department The China and Cut Glass Section always proves 

of absorbing interest 
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There are bargains in the Basement 
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The Fire of 1940 
 
Destructive Blaze in North-East 
Newspaper report – November 1940 
The most destructive fire that ever occurred at a North-east of Scotland town 
occurred last night and caused damage roughly estimated at £50,000. It broke out 
about seven o'clock, and the conflagration, which must have been seen for fifty miles 
around, did not fail to attract an enemy bomber, which let fly a high explosive bomb. 
The fire originated in the premises of a large department stores. 
 
AWE-INSPIRING - Apparently it was at the back, where the workshop is situated, 
that the fire originated. Packed with inflammable material, the building became an 
easy prey to the flames, which shot skywards in a most awe-inspiring manner, and a 
light breeze carried large embers and a shower of sparks all over the district. The Fire 
Brigade, assisted by the Auxiliary Fire Service, worked hard to save the Picture 
House on the other side of the street. 
 
CROWDS WATCH - Large crowds gathered in the vicinity to watch the huge blaze 
which lit up the town. One or two enemy planes had passed over before the flames 
got a hold and many people were heard to say that the town would be an easy mark 
for them. Sure enough one bomber arrived shortly after nine o'clock. The fire engines 
were making such a noise that nobody was aware of its presence until it let fly a high 
explosive. 

 
Fire Leads to Bombing Attack – Brutal Raid on N.E. Town 
Newspaper report – 12 November 1940 
A big fire in a North-East Scottish town led to a brutal attack by an enemy raider last 
week. Women and children were among those killed when the bombs dropped on a 
block of houses and shops a short distance from the scene of the fire. A large crowd 
was attracted to the scene when the fire broke out, in spite of the risk from enemy 
bombers known to be in the vicinity, and it is surmised that had the raider not 
already dropped part of his load the casualties might have been much more severe. A 
darts match was in progress in a public house and many of the victims were men who 
had been watching the play. 
 
The bombed buildings also caught fire and the firemen had a hard task to keep the 
outbreak from becoming more serious. Throughout the night and the whole of the 
next day the firemen, demolition squads and A.R.P. workers toiled among the ruins 
in order to recover the bodies of the victims. 
 
One family was thought to have perished but they had taken shelter in a passage-way 
and they had an amazing escape. They were ultimately taken out through the rear of 
the premises. In an adjoining church not even a window was broken, the blast having 
been directed across the street. 
 
There can surely be few towns so unfortunate as one situated in the North East which 
must remain nameless until after the war. Misfortune was piled upon misfortune 
when a devastating fire was followed by death and destruction from the skies. No 
better, or worse, example of German callousness could be cited. It is in vain to beat 
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the wind with revengeful words, but those who have seen the unforgettable tragedy, 
out of all proportion to the town's inhabitants, will not easily forget or forgive.  
 
Such a nation is fit to be ranked amongst the lowest savages and barbarians and if 
they are permitted ever again to bring their intolerable militarism into a position of 
ascendancy then our politicians deserve shooting. "The Germans are a kind-hearted 
people led astray by the Nazi regime?" Yes, and the heroic member of the German Air 
Force who rains down bombs on women and children is, we may remember, a 
representative of that race. 

 
Another account: 
 
My mother well remembers the night they bombed the Commercial Bar. She was 
living in the Old Police Buildings with her mother and sisters. Sergeant Dick Sim was 
on duty at Benzie & Miller’s on Mid Street, which had been set alight by the chain-
bomb. He had been sent to stop the looters who were using prams to escape with the 
spoils. 
 
The Old Police Buildings were about a quarter of a mile away and when the alert 
sounded, they took cover under the stairs. The mortuary was just around the corner 
on Quarry Road and later they were to count the number of times the mortuary car 
went by and came to realise how bad the raid had been. They were very worried 
about the eldest sister who had gone out for the evening to Broadgate. She came 
home later quite breathless because she was to have taken cover in the bar, but 
didn't. She recalls the poor railway delivery horse that was killed by another bomb in 
Hanover Street and how they all went to have a look. 

 
Extracts from the Channel 4 programme: “Fraserburgh during 
World War 2” 
 
Eric Rennie - born in 1932 and lived in Fraserburgh for 21 years. 
 
What I can remember 1939 when the war broke out. Went to the pictures and saw it 
on the movie news, the Pathe News, bombing in London. We used to think, "They'll 
never bomb Fraserburgh, little wee village like us, a town." And I think it was about a 
year later the Heinkels appeared, they started bombing. This was exciting, this. The 
bombs got nearer the house and the house started shaking, "Oh my Goodness. This is 
terrible." 
 
The bombers used to come in after having a go at the convoy, they used to sweep in, 
skimming the water - I'm exaggerating but you could see the bombs coming in. Used 
to watch the Heinkels coming in, that's a Heinkel German bomber, you'd see a 
gunner right in the nose, used to lie flat on the stomach - and just machine-gun the 
pavements. 
 
 
I think it was way back in 1940, 5th November Guy Fawkes Night, we had the biggest 
blaze I think in Europe. I wasn't exactly sound asleep, I must have been just on the 
verge of sleeping and I noticed something, a glow coming through the curtains. And 
during the war no lights should be shown coming out of the house, and the best light 
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was coming through. And a rap comes to the window, you can see the window from 
here, second window on the ground floor. And I'm not sure if it was George Ironside, 
but I'm sure it was, he says, "The town's on fire."  
 
So I climbed out of the window, got dressed, come out the window, cut across the 
gardens. By the time we got down to the bottom it was all cordoned off with soldiers, 
police. And we got through, worked our way through the crowds to the front and we 
saw the Commercial Bar obliterated and this soldier turned round and asked us, 
"What are you two laddies doing out here at this time of night?" 
 
And we said our house was bombed and of course he was so apologetic and he says, 
"I'm sorry, laddies." We realised we'd better get home and it wasn't long after that the 
police came up and said there was an unexploded bomb across the street, so I was 
evacuated to a house down in Pennyduff Road. 
 
All this area was blasted, flattened. You couldn't see the street for rubble. Where 
Woolworth's stands now was the Commercial Bar with a few shops alongside. Of 
course the German Heinkel one-eleven bombers came in, bombed the Commercial 
Bar here, there was 34 people killed and over 50 injured. It was the night I sneaked 
out. It was down there I saw things going on. People being taken injured, out of the 
rubble and laid on wooden stretchers. 

 
Newspaper report from November 1941 
 

It’s been bombed and machine-gunned many times. Seen a Nazi plane hurtling down 
in flames. Watched members of the Luftwaffe being rescued from the sea. Welcomed 
Norwegians who'd escaped their Nazi war lords. Had the biggest fire in its history. 
 
Yes, Fraserburgh and district's been in it all right since war began. Most vivid 
memory of all is the fire. It occurred just a year ago this month. Damage was 
estimated at £70,000. It broke out in the department store of Benzie & Miller Ltd., 
Mid Street, firm with a staff of fifty people. Leaping flames lit up town and 
countryside - and sea for fifty miles around. Hundreds of townspeople crowded 
round to watch the blaze. 
 
Then an extraordinary thing happened. A Nazi bomber stole in from the sea. Drone 
of its engines was drowned by the roar and crackle of the flames. Suddenly bombs 
began to fall. Mercifully, the first of them dropped on the outskirts of the town. The 
explosions came as a rude but effective warning to the crowds intent on the fire. They 
scattered. Just in time. Bombs fell in the town itself. Direct hits were scored on 
houses and shops, including the Commercial Hotel, one of the oldest hostelries in the 
North of Scotland. 
 
The crowd had been thickest at the end of Mid Street, not more than 5o or 6o yards 
from where bombs demolished the inn and other houses, causing many deaths. Men 
and women in the streets threw themselves to the ground, escaping with minor 
injuries from debris and flying glass. 
 



19 
 

Since July 1940, when the first bombs dropped, Fraserburgh's been one of the hit-
and-run raiders' favourite calling places. One of the worst days was when big, black 
Nazi bombers swept over the town, raking it with machine-gun fire, while children 
played at their games and womenfolk went their messages. Another occurred in April 
this year. Four women workers were killed when a building was struck. The Broch 
took it bravely. As soon as casualties had been removed women workers, some of 
them slightly injured, 
helped to clear the debris so that work could go on. A third black day fell later in the 
month. One bomber dropped bombs in a daylight raid. Seven lives were lost. 
 
But Jerry hasn't always had it all his own way. People in a neighbouring village saw a 
Dornier circle over them with smoke pouring from its tail. Fascinated, they watched 
it plunge into the sea, The crew of three were rescued by boat, uninjured. On another 
occasion great excitement ran through the town. A fishing boat brought in an 
unusual catch. Four German airmen shot down by a British fighter had been picked 
up off the coast. They had drifted in a rubber boat for two days. They were landed in 
an exhausted condition, one with a knee wound. 
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TO OUR CUSTOMERS 
 

We would like to take this opportunity of 
expressing our thanks to all who have 

supported us in the past and enabled us to 
build up a business which was the pride and 
joy of not only ourselves and also our staff 

but also we hope of the many who 
patronised us. 

WE HAVE DECIDED TO CARRY ON 
although present circumstances will limit 

our activities. 
In coming to this decision, several factors 
have weighed with us. In the first place we 
have a duty to our staff who have served us 
loyally, and to keep as many as possible in 

employment we will shortly re-open several 
departments, it may be in various parts of 
the town. Shortage of supplies will confine 

these meantime to Men's Wear and some of 
the Drapery sections. 

We feel we have also a duty to you, our 
customers. The limitation of Supplies Order 
will very soon affect even those shops with 
the largest of stocks and our quotas, if we 
did not take them up, would not be passed 

on to other traders in this district. Our 
intention is therefore to take advantage of 

every avenue of supply, not only to keep up 
our wide connection but to ensure that these 

goods are available to the public of 
Fraserburgh. 

Benzie & Miller Ltd. 

Until further notice the following 
shops are open for business:- 

 
Wools – 12 High Street 

 
Linen, Towels – 14 High Street 

 
Men's Wear – 70 High Street 

 
We will shortly open the following 

 
31 Commerce Street – Wools 

 
77 Broad Street – Stockings and Fancy 

Goods 
 

97 High Street – Toys 
 

Hours of business:- 
Week Days – 9 to 5 p.m. 

Wednesdays – 9 to 1 p.m. 
Saturdays – 9 to 6 p.m. 

 
Benzie & Miller Ltd. 

12, 14, 70 HIGH STREET 

November 12, 1940  December 3, 1940 
SALVAGE SALE 

ON 
Saturday 30th November 

 
Men's Underwear, Raincoats Etc., at 70 

High Street 
 

Towels, Sheets, Etc., at 14 High Street 
 

Wools, Ladies Underwear & Corsets at 12 
High Street 

 
HOURS  9 to 6 p.m. 
CLOSED  1 to 2 p.m. 

 
Benzie & Miller Ltd. 

ACCOUNTS 
 

Under present circumstances early 
payment of all outstanding accounts 

will be appreciated. Office address:- 12 
High Street. Particulars of the 

departments which we hope to re-
open will be announced as soon as 

possible. 
 

PETROL RATIONING 
Members of Group 11 0/2/9 will now 
receive their Petrol Coupons at above 

address 
Benzie & Miller Ltd. 

12, 14, 70 HIGH STREET 
November 26, 1940 November 19, 1940 
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The Shoe Store 
 
[this section is taken from notes kindly supplied by Chris Reid, granddaughter of John 
Buchan, daughter-in-law of Ernest Reid, and wife of Ernie Reid – all associated with the 
shoe business] 
 
John Buchan, worked for Goodlad and Coutts in the early part of the century having 
gone back to his trade after a spell on the family fishing boat. He made sea boots - 
one of a few craftsmen who did - and was there when Bob Henderson, as manager, 
opened the shop. The photo below is from Goodlad and Coutts, as two of the other 
men in the photo, Richard Minto and James Colvin, worked for them but never for 
Benzie & Miller’s, and date from 1920 or before. 
 

 
John (Soutar) Buchan, with one of the boots he was in the process of making A skilled 
shoemaker, he could produce one and a half pairs of these boots in a week, which sold for 
£1 10s. Born in St Combs, he learned his craft as a shoemaker’s apprentice in a house and 
workshop at the bend of the road to Pennan. He stayed in Pennan all week and made the 
journey to St Combs - often on foot - on a Saturday night, returning on Monday morning. 
After working as a shoemaker, he spent several years at sea, but came back to his trade 
and spent time in various shops in Fraserburgh. 

 
Ernest (Ernie) Reid started in Benzie & Miller as an apprentice (he never worked for 
Goodlad and Coutts) about 1924/25 and John Buchan was still working at Benzie & 
Miller’s then. There is no record of when he gave up work, but John Buchan died in 
1943. 
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Benzie & Miller’s shoe shop was a small shop at 28 Broad Street (Goodlad and Coutts 
was originally in Mid Street) with Robert Henderson as manager and the repair shop 
was in premises beside the cabinet makers outside the back of the main Benzie & 
Miller’s shop. Ernest Reid became manager of the shoe dept after Robert Henderson 
retired.  
 
Ernest Reid junion (Ernie) started as an apprentice in March 1951 working in the 
repair shop and with his father as manager in the 28 Broad Street shop. Just after his 
father was made manager of the shoe shop it moved from No. 28 to the bigger corner 
site on Broad Street in late 1951, until Benzie & Miller’s closed. 
  
When that closed my Ernest Reid started a small repair and retail business in rented 
premises in Castle Street, shown about 4 blocks along in the picture below, although 
he was quite poorly with cancer, during which time his son supported him in the 
background while employed at the local CPT and then took over the business when 
his father died, moving to premises at 27 Frithside Street. This was originally Benzie 
& Miller’s property but was acquired by the Council when the store closed. He then 
bought property in Mid Street where he ran a successful repair and retail business 
until 2004. Eric and Chris Reid rented a flat at 27 Frithside Street from Benzie & 
Miller’s when they were first married, and the other flats, apart from one, were all 
rented by Benzie & Miller’s employees.  

 
During the time Ernest and Ernie Reid were in Benzie & Miller’s, there were between 
four to six benchmen employed at any one time. On a Saturday Ernie would work in 
the shoe shop in sales, being in the repair shop the other days. This actually proved 
beneficial when he took on his own business.  
 
Later on, when Ernie Reid went on his own, he repaired saddles (although not a 
saddler), harness and even remade boots into thigh boots and reshaped leather coats 
and jackets into jerkins and waistcoats for the Sealed Knot. Skills he’d further 
developed from his initial apprenticeship in Benzie & Miller’s It was amazing the 
work he did which other repairers might not have tackled.  
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The Reid’s shop in Frithside Street, just behind the car 

 
 

 
Ernie Reid sewing on leather soles by hand in the traditional manner using John Buchan’s 

tools, and sitting on John Buchan’s original shoemaker’s stool. 
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Ernie & Chris Reid 

 
Ernie - in his youth - outside the shoe shop 

 

 
The Reid shop at Mid Street (no longer a shop – now 2 flats) 

 

 
Ernie and his staff - a photo for the quarter centenary celebrations in 1992 
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Benzie & Miller's Shoe Shop, 32 Broad Street, Fraserburgh.  

Owned by Benzies from 1951-1967. A shop was at 28 Broad Street from 1940 to 1951 
 

 
The window, full of shoes 

 
 
  



26 
 

The Other Stores 
 
Branches of Benzie & Miller's department store were also opened in Banff, Elgin, 
Peterhead and Inverness. 
 
The Inverness store opened in 1952 at 13/17 Union Street, following the purchase of 
Young & Chapman. By 1960 the store had become known as Benzie’s of Inverness 
and, in addition to their Union Street store, had departments at 33-49 Baron Taylor 
Street and 1 Drummond Street (TV and electrical department). 

 
 

 
Benzie & Miller's Peterhead store 
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Benzie & Miller’s store at 13/17 Union Street, Inverness 
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Ramsay’s store at High Street, Elgin, which became Benzie & Miller’s in 1950 
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People crowded around Benzie & Miller's shop window, 13/17 Union Street, 

Inverness. Taken during the Queen Mother's visit to the town in 1953 and the 
window is full of royal memorabilia and union jacks. An anti-royalist notice 

written by the SRA (Scottish Republican Army) is stuck to the front of the window 
 
 

Newspaper report – 26 March 1953 
 
Inverness S.R.A. Warning – The Inverness branch of Benzie & Miller Ltd., drapers 
and furnishers, Union Street, today received a warning notice signed “S.R.A.” 
requesting them to remove E II R signs and ciphers from their window display of 
Coronation souvenirs. The message was contained in a typewritten envelope and left 
at the shop door before the premises opened this morning. 
 
It read: “Warning. You are instructed to take all E II R signs and cyphers out of your 
window, otherwise we will be forced to take action. S.R.A.” 
 
The notice has been posted in the shop window, and the police informed. 
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Display on the roof of Benzie & Miller's partially rebuilt store for the Coronation 

celebrations in 1953 - designed by Andrew Cardno 
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Other notes and images 
 

 
 

 
Invoice from Benzie & Miller’s for work carried out at the 

South Church, Fraserburgh, November 1929 
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A Lamson pneumatic tube cash system was installed in the Fraserburgh store in 
1934. For details of this system of cash collection, 

see: www.ids.u-net.com/cash/pneu-lamson.htm 
 
Production records of Benzie & Miller Ltd., Fraserburgh, 1887-1937, are held in the 
University of Glasgow Archives -  

see: www.archives.gla.ac.uk 
 
A private ledger, 1944-1958 of Benzie & Miller Ltd., Fraserburgh, is held in the 
Glasgow University Archives 

see: www.nationalarchives.gov.uk 
 

 
Forced entry into shop at Fraserbugh 
“On 28 December 1931, burglars entered the business premises of Benzie & Miller 
(Ltd.), Fraserburgh, drapers and cabinetmakers. They entered from the rear, cutting 
out a panel in the door, through which they got access. Evidently they were disturbed 
as nothing has apparently been removed.” 

 
 

 
Benzie & Miller’s Wedding Fashion Parade 
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Benzie & Miller’s Wedding Fashion Parade 

 
 
 

 
Benzie & Miller’s Wedding Fashion Parade Gala Dinner 
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Decoration of the shop for the Coronation of King George VI, 1937 

 
22nd November 1958 – Santa Arrives 
Santa Claus arrived at Peterhead today by train before taking up duty in Benzie & 
Miller’s store for the Christmas season. He was escorted from the train to the strains 
of bagpipe music played by piper Alan Donaldson and took his seat in a decorated 
horse-drawn landau which was followed by hundreds of excited youngsters as it 
made its way to the store. 

 

 
Santa arriving at Benzie & Miller's 
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Shoe display window at Benzie & Miller's shoe shop 

 

 
Benzie & Miller's float for the Queen's Coronation parade in 1953 
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Benzie & Miller's float for the Queen's Coronation parade in 1953 
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B&M's Fashion Show in aid of the Aberdeen Royal Infirmary Appeal, October 1936 
 
 

 
Some of the B&M staff 
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Benzie & Miller’s 70 High Street shop window, c. 1950, recreated at the 
Fraserburgh Heritage Centre, where you can operate the 1950 Hornby-Dublo train 
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Sale of Benzie & Miller’s to House of Fraser 
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Construction photographs 
 
These pictures show some of the construction work undertaken at Benzie & Miller’s 
in the mid-1930’s. 
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Alexander Benzie (1902-1991) 

 

 

 
 

Alexander Benzie 
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William Benzie, with wife Helen and children Annie, Alexander 

(who later took over the business) and Jean (c.1910) 
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Advertisements 
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April 1937 
Buyer wanted to take charge of children’s and baby linen departments; state age and 
salary expected. Benzie & Miller Ltd, Fraserburgh 
 
April 1938 
Machinery, plant etc. Wanted 40 h.p. Diesel Engine for electric lighting.  
 
August 1938 
Machinery, plant etc. For sale, 22/24 h.p. Crossley Semi-Diesel Oil Engine, type FOE, 
in good running order, complete with water tanks, air bottle etc.  
 
March 1941 
Journeyman Shoemaker Wanted. Apply Benzie & Miller Ltd, Fraserburgh 
 
December 1942 
Shoe Repairers Wanted. Apply Benzie & Miller Ltd, 28 Broad Street, Fraserburgh 
 
April 1944 
Compton D.C. generators, 100/110 v., one 400 amp., 44 kw., compound, and one 100 
amp., shunt; also two 3 h.p. motors, D.C., switchboard and fittings, several pulleys, 
starter, etc., for sale. Benzie & Miller Ltd, Fraserburgh 
 
February 1946 
Wanted. Cabinetmaker, preferably with machine experience.  
 
June 1948 
Shoe Repairer Wanted, experienced benchman; permanent situation to suitable 
applicant. House available shortly, Benzie & Miller Ltd, Fraserburgh 
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June 1948 
Wood huts wanted, sizes 20ft. x 12ft., and 20ft x 8ft.  
 
July 1948 
Upholsterer wanted; 3-room house available. Benzie & Miller Ltd, 15 Mid Street, 
Fraserburgh 
 
August 1948 
Buyer required for Children’s and Baby Linen departmens. State experience and 
salary required. Benzie & Miller Ltd, Fraserburgh 
 
February 1949 
Cabinetmaker wanted; bench and machine experience; 2-roomed house available. 
Benzie & Miller Ltd, Fraserburgh 
 
March 1949 
Wanted, sectional Timber Hut or Huts, approx. 45ft x 12ft; also Wood Counters, 9 to 
12 ft long. Benzie & Miller Ltd, Fraserburgh 
 
October 1949 
Manager wanted for Peterhead branch. Apply, giving full particulars of previous 
experience to Benzie & Miller Ltd, 15 Mid Street, Fraserburgh 
 
October 1950 
General manager wanted to Elgin branch (Ramsays). Apply, giving full particulars of 
previous experience and salary expected. Fashion buyer also wanted for above 
branch. Benzie & Miller Ltd, Fraserburgh 

 

 
In 1931 a series of adverts ran in the local cinemas promoting the Benzie and Miller 

store in Fraserburgh. These can be seen at Scotland On Screen: 
www.scotlandonscreen.org.uk/browse-films/007-000-002-403-c 
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19th November 1921 

 
 
 

  
July 1934 
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July 1939 
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November 1953 

 
 
 

August 1959 

 

October 1959 
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B&M paper bag 
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B&M branded coat hanger 

 

 



57 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



58 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 


